IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BERTIN C. CHEVIS

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VERSUS

i i

1 :

NO. 2010-CA-00861

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY **DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES**

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HANCOCK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT NO. 08-0514

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

JOHN F. KETCHERSIDE, MS Bar #14 Braewood Cove, PO Box 10574
Jackson, TN 38305

Telephone: (731) 660-5691 Facsimile: (731) 660-5692

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BERTIN C. CHEVIS

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2010-CA-00861

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. THE POLICY IN QUESTION FAILED TO DEFINE "WINDSTORM" AND THE CLAIMED EXCLUSION IS THEREFORE VAGUE AND UNENFORCEABLE.
- 2. THE POLICY IN QUESTION COVERED "NAMED STORMS" AND APPLIED TO HURRICANE KATRINA.
- 3. MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU SOLD AND BROKERED THEIR "BUSINESS PACKAGE OF INSURANCE" AND IS LIABLE FOR ALL COVERAGES THEREIN.
- 4. THE HONORABLE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AND THAT SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER.
- 5. THE DEFENDANTS ARE JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE TO PLAINTIFF FOR HIS LOSSES.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL POSTURE

The Plaintiff in this action is Dr. Bertin C. Chevis, local Bay St. Louis, MS, physician and owner of the property that is, and office building that was located at 307 Ulman Avenue in that town. Dr. Chevis resides in Hancock County, Mississippi at 10030 Cain Road.

The Defendant in this appeal is Mississippi Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company (Farm Bureau), a Mississippi insurance company with offices in Hancock County. In February, 2005, Dr. Chevis met with agents Farm Bureau to change over all of his business coverage to their company. Dr. Chevis bought a "Business Package" of insurance which he was told would cover him for everything but flood. He wrote checks to different companies at the Farm Bureau office for the coverage he bought there.

On August 29, 2005, Bay St. Louis along with many other coastal communities was struck by Hurricane Katrina. The Chevis' had evacuated, and were not in Bay St. Louis at the time of the storm. When they returned they found Dr. Chevis' building severely damaged by the storm, and it eventually had to be removed from the property. Dr. Chevis made claims with Farm Bureau for his losses. He was directed to different entities for claims and was never fully compensated for his losses. Being aggrieved, Dr. Chevis filed suit on August 28, 2008 against Keith Ladner of Farm Bureau, Theodore Bilbo of Farm Bureau, Mississippi Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company, Audobon Insurance Group (A wholly owned subsidiary of American International Group), AIG Claim Services, Inc., and the Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association (MWUA). Dr. Chevis dismissed the individual agents.

the various Defendants have filed motions to dismiss or for judgment, and not all witnesses or party representatives have been produced for deposition.

This appeal arises from Farm Bureau's Motion for Summary Judgment. The Motion was filed on July 1, and is based on an exclusion for water, wind or hail. Ladner and Bilbo, Farm Bureau's agents, sold all of the policies through the Farm Bureau office. No definition is given for windstorm in the Farm Bureau policy containing the purported exclusion. The Honorable Trial Court Judge, on March 3, 2010, entered Summary Judgment for Farm Bureau, finding that even though all policies were sold from the same office as part of a business package, their coverage exclusion for an undefined peril would be given effect. The Judgment was made final by Agreed Order dated April 21, 2010. Because this leaves Dr. Chevis without payment for damages and losses in the amount of over Two Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$200,00.00), he filed this appeal.

Appellant seeks redress from this Court finding that Farm Bureau through its agents sold all of the coverages to him in the "Business Package" of coverage and that they are therefore liable for all losses, that the claimed exclusions are vague and unenforceable and there are genuine issues of material fact making summary judgment improper.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES

Dr. Bertin C. Chevis owned the property at 307 Ulman Avenue in Bay St. Louis for a period of years prior to the relevant events of his lawsuit. For approximately ten years before Hurricane Katrina destroyed the building, Dr. Chevis used it as his medical office. In February of 2005, Dr. Chevis purchased a "Business Package" of insurance from Farm Bureau agents Keath Ladner and Theodore Bilbo at Farm Bureau's office in

Hancock County. This was represented as coverage for everything except flood insurance coverage, with coverages from Farm Bureau, Audubon (AIG) and Mississippi Windstorm Underwriting Association, all purchased in the Farm Bureau office. On or about August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck Bay St. Louis and other areas of the Gulf Coast. The storm damaged Plaintiff's property so badly that (also considering the slow claim, adjustment and incomplete payment process) it was a total loss.

Dr. Chevis cooperated fully with the insurers and adjusters, but his medical practice building was a total loss, and his claims were only partially paid. The final date of breach and continued acts of negligence was January 25, 2007. Farm Bureau paid part of Dr. Chevis' claim, including contents and partial payment from the MWUA. Farm Bureau claimed that there was an exclusion for windstorm, although that term is not defined in the policy.

On August 28, 2008, Dr. Chevis filed his lawsuit against the agents, insurers and adjusting company. He caused all parties to be served. Defendants requested additional time to file their Answers or otherwise respond, to which Plaintiff agreed. Defendants filed Motions to Dismiss and for Summary Judgment. This appeal arises from Summary Judgment granted by Honorable John C. Garguilo, Circuit Court Judge. The Court found that the Farm Bureau policy did not define "windstorm" but that the policy was not vague because the Court could go outside the policy for a definition. The Court did not consider Plaintiff's argument that because all of the coverages were sold through Farm Bureau in its office in Hancock County, a fact issue, that Farm Bureau was liable. There is no dispute that Farm Bureau's agents, Keath Ladner and Theodore Bilbo, sold all of the coverage in question to Dr. Chevis at Farm Bureau's office, no dispute that windstorm is

not defined in the policy, and no dispute that Farm Bureau did not pay the policy amount

for a total loss.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff Bertin C. Chevis owned and used the property that is the subject of this case for years as his medical practice before it was lost to Hurricane Katrina. In the Spring of 2005 he changed insurance carriers to Farm Bureau and bought a "Business Package" of insurance from them that was to cover everything but flood coverage. He paid his premiums at the Farm Bureau office in Hancock County, albeit some checks to different entities. Dr. Chevis' building was damaged severely by the hurricane and eventually was a total loss. When he made a claim for his loss, he was directed to different offices and adjusters and after a prolonged and painful process was only paritally paid for the total loss of his building. Although he had bought insurance including named storm coverage that should have covered all of his losses, his insurers have left him with over Two Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$200,00.00) in losses. Because he was not paid for his damages, he filed suit against all the parties he could identify as responsible. Farm Bureau, the insurer where he had purchased all of his coverage, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, claiming that an undefined exclusion barred his claim against them and that they were not responsible to their insured for anything beyond coverage for contents. The Honorable Trial Court Judge went outside the policy for the definition of exclusionary language and dismissed the primary insurer without considering agency and fact issues raised by the Plaintiff. We respectfully argue that the Honorable Trial Court Judge should have construed the vague exclusionary language against the insurer as required by Mississippi law and found that numerous fact and agency issues exist which require trial, and denied Defendant's Motion.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal, the Court reviews summary judgment de novo. The Mississippi Supreme Court said in Architex Ass'n, Inc., v. Scottsdale Ins. Co., 27 So.3d 1148, 1156 (Miss. 2010), "This Court has stated that...[t]he circuit court's grant [or denial] of a motion for summary judgment is reviewed by this Court de novo. See *Wilner v. White*, 929 So.2d 315, 318 (Miss.2006)...In this Court's ne novo review, '[t]he evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made.' *Daniels v. GNB, Inc.*, 629 So.2d 595, 599 (Miss.1993)" Here, the Trial Court not only decided the narrow issue of definition of a policy exclusion term, but decided jury fact issues against Plaintiff, and entered final judgment in favor of the Defendant.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. THE POLICY IN QUESTION FAILED TO DEFINE "WINDSTORM" AND THE CLAIMED EXCLUSION IS THEREFORE VAGUE AND UNENFORCEABLE.

The Honorable Trial Court Judge finds, in granting Summary Judgment, that "the Farm Bureau policy at issue does not define 'windstorm'". The Court then notes that because Plaintiff stated in discovery that his building was not destroyed by flood, in must have been destroyed by wind and there was no question for the jury. The Court found that it is acceptable to go outside the policy to find definitions for undefined policy terms of art, here a term that resulted in exclusion. In support Defendant and the Trial Court cite the Fifth Circuit case of Kemp v. American Universal Ins. Co., 391 F.2d 533 (5th Cir. 1968). Which apparently allows the Court freedom to find its own definitions for undefined policy terms.

We respectfully suggest that Mississippi law is correctly set forth in Corban v. United Services Automobile Ass'n, 20 So.3d 601 (Miss. 2009) "The substantive contract law of this state likewise has been clearly declared by this Court to include the following concepts...if a contract is clear and unambiguous, then it must be interpreted as written...If a contract contains ambiguous or unclear language, then ambiguities must be resolved in favor of the non-drafting party...exclusions and limitations on coverage are also construed in favor of the insured. Language in exclusionary clauses must be "clear and unmistakable," as those clauses are strictly interpreted. United States Fid. & Guar. Co. V. Martin, 998 So.2d 956, 963 (Miss. 2008) (internal citations omitted). See also Frazier v. N. Miss. Shopping Ctr. Inc., 458 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Miss. 1984) ("[a] construction leading to an absurd, harsh or unreasonable result in a contract should be avoided unless the terms are express and free of doubt.")"

Clearly, then, undefined terms must be construed against the insurer, especially in exclusionary language. We respectfully urge that the undefined exclusionary terms in Defendant Farm Bureau's policies be construed in Plaintiff's favor. Dr. Chevis is not seeking double coverage, but he should be compensated once for the total loss of his property.

2. THE POLICY IN QUESTION COVERED "NAMED STORMS" AND APPLIED TO HURRICANE KATRINA.

Plaintiff has repeatedly noted that all coverages were purchased through Farm Bureau Insurance, and has stated that the coverage he purchased through Farm Bureau was "named storm" coverage. The Court reporter who prepared and provided the motion hearing

transcript did not attach the exhibits offered at the hearing. Attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference is the paperwork that was offered at the hearing which shows Plaintiff purchased "named storm" coverage through Farm Bureau. There was a dispute over the Record on Appeal¹ and we did not have another opportunity to review the record after the Trial Court Judge's Order. Whether Farm Bureau provided what was purchased through its office is certainly a Jury issue. Because Dr. Chevis was offered and purchased named storm coverage through Farm Bureau we respectfully urge they were bound to provide it without exclusion. See <u>Fonte v. Audubon Ins. Co.</u>, 8 So.3d 161 (Miss. 2009) This particular issue was raised but never addressed by the Trial Court Judge. This is an issue for the jury.

3. MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU SOLD AND BROKERED THEIR "BUSINESS PACKAGE OF INSURANCE" AND IS LIABLE FOR ALL COVERAGES THEREIN.

It is clear even from the limited record necessary to consider this appeal that all of the coverage Dr. Chevis bought to cover his office were bought through the Farm Bureau office in Hancock County, from Farm Bureau agents Keath Ladner and Theodore Bilbo. This issue was raised in the original Complaint and consistently asserted throughout the proceedings. The issue of agency was never addressed by the Trial Court Judge; as soon as he went outside the policy to define undefined exclusionary terms he decided all the pending fact issues and dismissed the primary insurer. The record shows that all of the coverages were bought through Farm Bureau, yet they were dismissed without any consideration. We

¹Defendant sought to introduce hundreds of pages of documents that were not of record at the time summary judgment was entered and the transcript was not provided with exhibits; the later documents were removed.

respectfully urge that this is not proper under Rule 56 or any of the Mississippi law on point. See <u>Fonte</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Miller v. R.B. Wall Oil Co., Inc</u>, 970 So.2d 127 (Miss. 2007) stating that the existence of agency is a fact issue for the jury.

4. THE HONORABLE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AND THAT SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER.

As noted above, the Trial Court Judge granted summary judgment in favor of Farm Bureau when a number of jury issues remain. The Rule 56, MRCP, states, in pertinent part "summary judgment...shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Here, the Honorable Trial Court Judge went outside the contract to define an undefined exclusionary clause and summarily dismissed the insurer and broker for all of the coverages in question without actually considering any fact issues. In <u>Fonte</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Supreme Court states:

'A summary judgment motion is only properly granted when no genuine issue of material fact exists.' Jackson Clinic for Women, P.A. v. Henley, 965 So.2d 643, 649 (Miss.2007)(citing PPG Architectural Finishes, Inc., v. Lowery, 909 So.2d 47, 49 (Miss.2005); Miller v. Meeks, 762 So.2d 302, 304 (Miss.2000)). '[T]he evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made.' One South, 963 So.2d at 1160; Green v. Allendale Planting Co., 954 So.2d 1032, 1037 (Miss. 2007) (quoting Price v Purdue Pharma Co., 920 So.2d 479, 483 (Miss. 2006)). "The moving party has the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material fact(s) exists, and the non-moving party must be given the benefit of the doubt concerning the existence of a material fact." Id. (quoting Howard v. City of Biloxi, 943 So.2d 751, 754 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006)).

i,

The Comment to Rule 56 States:

A motion for summary judgment lies only when there is no genuine issue of material fact; summary judgment is not a substitute for the trial of disputed fact issues. Accordingly, the court cannot try issues of fact on a Rule 56 motion; is may only determine whether there are issues to be tried. Given this function, the court examines the affidavits or other evidence introduced on a Rule 56 motion simply to determine whether a triable issue exists, rather than for the purpose of resolving that issue. Similarly, although the summary judgment procedure is well adapted to expose sham claims and defenses, it cannot be used to deprive a litigant of a full trial of genuine fact issues.

The Trial Court Judge dismissed Farm Bureau after providing his own definition for an undefined exclusionary term and finding that since Plaintiff stated his building was not destroyed by flood, it must have been windstorm. The Court would have to find that a jury could not find that Plaintiff was entitled to insurance coverage for his Katrina-related damages, when many juries have found just that, and occasionally awarding punitive damages for non-payment. Here, the Farm Bureau policy even provides for coverage in certain cases notwithstanding the exclusion. In the endorsement provided by Defendant with his motion² Farm Bureau states that a covered loss that would not have occurred but for the excluded hazard is itself covered. The example is windstorm or hail that damages a heating system causing a fire. Here, Plaintiff alleged later negligence that would not have damaged the property but for storm damage. Under Corban, supra, the exclusionary language would have to be construed in favor of the insured. This alone requires reversal, as well as the many agency and fact issues which were never considered by the Trial Court.

5. THE DEFENDANTS ARE JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE TO PLAINTIFF FOR HIS LOSSES.

²Unfortunately the Clerk missed pages when numbering the record; the endorsement is the first unnumbered page following page 54 in the Record.

For the reasons noted above, agency by Farm Bureau, promise to provide named storm coverage, coverage under the contract and other reasons, Farm Bureau is liable to Plaintiff, along with all other Defendants, for his losses. Plaintiff pled this and has consistently maintained the same. It is a jury issue if agency exists and if the Defendants acted together.

CONCLUSION

For all of the above and foregoing reasons, Plaintiff/Appellant Bertin C. Chevis moves this Honorable Court reverse the Judgment of the Trial Court with instructions to construe the policy exclusions against Farm Bureau, consistent with Mississippi Law, deny Summary Judgment, allow this matter to proceed to trial, and for such other and further relief as deemed just in the premises.