IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DR. BERTIN C. CHEVIS

VS

APPELLANT

DEFENDANTS

CASE NO.: 2010-CA-00861

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

APPEALED FROM:

• •

11

÷.

THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI (Cause No.: 08-0514)

John A. Banahan, MS Bar No.: Ryan A. Frederic, MS Bar No.: BRYAN, NELSON, SCHROEDER, CASTIGLIOLA & BANAHAN, PLLC 1103 Jackson Avenue Post Office Drawer 1529 Pascagoula, MS 39568-1529 Tel.: (228)762-6631 Fax: (228)769-6392 Email: john@bnscb.com ryan@bnscb.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DR. BERTIN C. CHEVIS

APPELLANT

DEFENDANTS

VS

÷

CASE NO.: 2010-CA-00861

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

Kemp v. American Universal Ins. Co., 391 F.2d 533, 535 (5th Cir. Miss. 1968) (internal

citations omitted).

Mississippi law is clear that the role of interpreting an insurance policy is

reserved for the Court, not a jury, and in doing so, the Court "should look at the policy

as a whole, consider all relevant portions together and, whenever possible, give

operative effect to every provision in order to reach a reasonable overall result." J&W

Foods Corp., 723 So. 2d at 552 (citing Continental Casualty Co., 360 So. 2d at 697. In

the present matter, on its face, the Windstorm or Hail Exclusion Endorsement to the

Farm Bureau Policy clearly and unambiguously excludes loss or damage caused by

wind. As noted supra, the Exclusion Endorsement provides:

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE **READ IT CAREFULLY.**

WINDSTORM OR HAIL EXCLUSION

For a premium credit the following is added to the EXCLUSIONS section and is therefore not a Peril Insured Against:

WINDSTORM OR HAIL

We will not pay for loss or damage:

Caused directly or indirectly by Windstorm or Α. Hail, regardless of any other cause or event that contributes concurrently or in any sequence to the loss or damage; or

B. Caused by rain, snow, sand or dust, whether driven by wind or not, if that loss or damage would not have occurred but for the Windstorm or Hail.

> But if the Windstorm or Hail results in a cause of loss other than rain, snow, sand or dust, and that resulting cause of loss is a Peril Insured Against, we will pay for the loss or damage caused by such Peril Insured Against. For example, if the Windstorm or Hail damages a heating system and fire results, the loss or damage attributable to the fire is covered subject to any other applicable policy provisions.

First unnumbered page after C.P. 54. Since the Farm Bureau Policy and its exclusion endorsement are not ambiguous, in accordance with Mississippi law, the Trial Court enforced the policy as written and found that Chevis had no coverage for wind related damages.

Farm Bureau does not dispute that the term "windstorm" is not defined in the Farm Bureau Policy, and the exclusion endorsement attached thereto. However, the Trial Court did not err in relying on legal precedent to aid in its interpretation of the term "windstorm" as it appears in the Farm Bureau Policy. The Trial Court utilized all tools at its disposal to ensure that it properly interpreted the Farm Bureau Policy. Additionally, the Trial Court's interpretation was not improper, as when the policy is read as a whole, it is clear that the Farm Bureau Policy clearly intended to exclude "windstorm" damage as the Notice issued with the policy to Chevis clearly and unambiguously provided:

IMPORTANT NOTICE

. .

WINDSTORM OR HAIL EXCLUSION (ALL PROPERTY POLICIES)

Page 15 of 28

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY. The enclosed Windstorm or Hail Exclusion Endorsement is being added to your policy. This means your property policy through Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company or Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company will not provide windstorm or hail coverage.

C.P. 21.

Finally, Chevis in his Answers to Farm Bureau's Interrogatories, under oath,

stated:

1 :

INTERROGATORY NO. 21: Please describe in specific detail all damage to your property located at 307 Ulman Avenue, Bay St. Louis, MS 39520, and include in your description what you believe to be the source of such damage, whether wind or water or a combination of both, and why you believe that to be the source.

ANSWER: My medical office was a total loss. **Hurricane Katrina blew out windows and blew off much of the roof**. The building just started to crumble, and had to be removed by a hazardous waste specialist.

C.P. 74-82 (emphasis by author).

Thus, after properly determining that the Windstorm or Hail Exclusion

Endorsement to the Farm Bureau Policy clearly and unambiguously excludes loss or damage caused by wind, and armed with Chevis' sworn Interrogatory answers that wind damage was his sole cause of loss and the knowledge that Chevis wrote a check to the MWUA and was issued a separate policy which specifically covered his property for wind related damage, the Trial Court correctly decided that no genuine issue of material fact existed regarding Chevis' claim for wind damage against Farm Bureau and properly entered summary judgment in favor of Farm Bureau.

ll. Chevis is Bound by the Terms of Farm Bureau Business Package Policy BP907600

Chevis' assertion that representations were made to him when obtaining his insurance policy that "everything except flood" was covered is without merit. Even assuming such a representation was made, which Farm Bureau denies, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated in <u>Cherry v. Anthony, Gibbs, and Sage</u>, that policyholders are bound as a matter of law by the knowledge of the contents of a contract into which they entered regardless of whether or not they have actually read the contract. <u>Cherry</u>, 501 So.2d 416 at 419. *See also*, <u>Stephens v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of U. S.</u>, 850 So. 2d 78, 83, ¶15 (Miss. 2003) ("[I]nsureds are bound as a matter of law by the knowledge of the contract not whether of they actually read the contract.")

Assuming <u>arguendo</u>, that such a representation was made, which in fact would be a claim for misrepresentation that Chevis has never asserted, this argument is inconsequential and does not create any genuine issue of material fact as the Farm Bureau Policy and its Windstorm or Hail Exclusion Endorsement clearly and unambiguously excluded loss or damage caused by wind. Thus, any assertion in that regard must fail.

III.

Farm Bureau Business Package Policy BP907600 is a "Named Perils" Policy which Unambiguously Excludes Coverage for Wind Damage

A. Chevis improperly attached documents to his brief pursuant to M.R.A.P. 10(b)(5)

Rule 10(b)(5) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure provides:

(5) Attorney's Examination and Proposed Corrections. For fourteen (14) days after service of the clerk's notice of completion under Rule 11(d)(2), the appellant shall have the use of the record for examination. On or before the expiration of that period, appellant's counsel shall deliver or mail the record to one firm or attorney representing the appellee, and shall append to the record (I) a written statement of any proposed corrections to the record, (ii) a certificate that the attorney has carefully examined the record and that with the proposed corrections, if any, it is correct and complete, and (iii) a certificate of service. Corrections as to which counsel for all parties agree in writing shall be deemed made by stipulation. If the parties propose corrections to the record but do not agree on the corrections, the trial court clerk shall forthwith deliver the record with proposed corrections to the trial judge. The trial judge shall promptly determine which corrections, if any, are proper, enter and order under Rule 10(e), and return the record to the court reporter or the trial court clerk who shall within seven (7) days make corrections directed by the order.

M.R.A.P. 10.

Farm Bureau does not dispute the assertion of Chevis that, at least initially, the parties disagreed as to what documents were to be designated and included in the Appellate Record. However, at the time Chevis filed his Certificate of Service of the Record, the exhibits to the hearing transcript that he now attaches to his Brief were absent from the Appellate Record. It was the responsibility of Chevis to ensure that the hearing transcript exhibits were included in the Appellate Record prior to his certification. In <u>Miller v. R.B. Wall Oil Co.</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court served a warning to all appellate counsel that failure to comply with M.R.A.P. 10(b)(5) is at the attorney's own peril. <u>Miller</u>, 970 So. 2d 127, 131 (Miss. 2007). However, even if the Court considers the hearing transcript exhibits, the documents provide no genuine issue of material fact; nor do the documents provide any basis for this Court to reverse the

Trial Court's granting of summary judgment in favor of Farm Bureau.

B. Chevis' argument that "The Policy In Question Covered 'Named Storms' and Applied to Hurricane Katrina" fails as a matter of law

Chevis is correct that his Farm Bureau Policy is a "named perils" policy; however, he fails to acknowledge, nor is he capable of satisfying his burden of proof that his claim for wind damage is covered under the Farm Bureau Policy.

A "named perils" policy only provides coverage "for the specific risks enumerated in the policy and excludes all other risks." Lee R. Russ & Thomas F. Segalla, 7 <u>Couch</u> <u>on Insurance</u> § 101:7 (3d ed. 2007). Under "named perils" coverage, the insured has the burden of proof "to prove that the damages sustained were covered by the peril insured against" <u>Corban v. United Servs. Auto. Ass'n</u>, 20 So. 3d 601, 619 (Miss. 2009) (quoting <u>Lunday v. Lititz Mut. Ins. Co.</u>, 276 So. 2d 696, 699 (Miss. 1973); See *also* Appleman on Insurance § 192.09 (2009) (under "named peril" coverage, "the insured has the burden of proving that any losses were caused by a peril covered by the policy -- indemnity is not available unless the loss falls under one of the specifically enumerated coverages.")

As noted herein, Chevis seeks indemnification for wind damage resulting from Hurricane Katrina. However, the Farm Bureau Policy and its Windstorm or Hail Exclusion Endorsement clearly and unambiguously excluded loss or damage caused by wind. In turn, Chevis is incapable of satisfying his burden of proof that wind damage was a peril covered under his Farm Bureau Policy. As such, this Court should affirm the summary judgment in favor of Farm Bureau. C. Chevis' argument that "Mississippi Farm Bureau Sold and Brokered their 'Business Package of Insurance' and is Liable for All Coverages Therein" fails as a matter of law

Farm Bureau does not dispute that the Farm Bureau Policy, with its exclusion endorsement, is in fact a "business package" policy of insurance. The term "business package" only refers to the coverage provided under the policy, which speaks for itself, and the policy clearly and unambiguously excluded loss or damage caused by wind. As noted <u>supra</u>, Chevis is bound by the terms of his insurance policy, whether or not he read the policy, and the terms of the Farm Bureau Policy are clear as to the coverage provided.

Chevis asserts in his Brief that "all of the coverage Dr. Chevis bought to cover his office were bought through the Farm Bureau office in Hancock County, from Farm Bureau agents Keath Ladner and Theodore Bilbo." Brief of Appellant at pg. 13. Farm Bureau does not dispute that Farm Bureau agents obtained for Chevis Farm Bureau Business Package Policy BP907600, submitted the MWUA application for Chevis, and accepted the initial premium payments for each policy. However, Chevis turns a blind eye to the terms of his Farm Bureau Policy which clearly excludes wind damage, and fails to acknowledge that his checks written on February 8, 2005, for his MWUA policy were made payable to "MWUA;" not Farm Bureau. C.P. 14; 16. Thus, Chevis was fully aware that all coverage was not provided by Farm Bureau, but rather Farm Bureau was providing specified coverage pursuant to Business Package Policy BP907600 and that the MWUA was providing wind-and-hail coverage through Policy CPF 0795057.

In further support of this argument, Chevis cites two cases: (1) <u>Miller v. R.B. Wall</u> <u>Oil Co.</u>, 970 So. 2d 127 (Miss. 2007) and (2) <u>Fonte v. Audubon Ins. Co.</u>, 8 So. 3d 161

ŧ

(Miss. 2009). It warrants noting Chevis merely provides the citation to both cases and makes no attempt to state the rule of law provided by either case, nor applies the law or facts of either case to the present matter. Both cases simply provide the standard for determining whether or not an agency relationship exists; however, neither case provides any guidance regarding the Trial Court's entry of summary judgment in favor of Farm Bureau.

The case of <u>Miller v. R.B. Wall Oil Co.</u>, arose from a slip-and-fall incident at a truck stop. <u>Miller</u>, 970 So. 2d at 129. The injured party filed suit against the operator/lessee of the truck stop, the corporation/lessor of the truck stop, and the distributor of gasoline products. The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment in favor of the distributor. On appeal this Court reversed and found genuine issues of material fact as to whether or not an agency relationship existed and regarding notice of the alleged dangerous condition. <u>Id</u>. at 131-32. No factual similarity exists between <u>Miller</u> and the present matter, nor is <u>Miller</u> authority for the present matter as there is no proof of any agency relationship between Farm Bureau and any co-defendant.

In <u>Fonte v. Audubon Ins. Co.</u>, the plaintiffs/homeowners filed suit against Audubon Insurance Company, the MWUA, State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., and State Farm's agent to recover insurance proceeds for Hurricane Katrina damage. <u>Fonte</u>, 8 So. 3d at 163-64. At the time of Hurricane Katrina, the homeowners had a federal flood policy, a wind-and-hail policy through the MWUA, and a homeowner's policy through State Farm. <u>Id</u>. at 163. From March 2005 through 2007, Audubon entered into a Servicing Insurer Agreement with the MWUA wherein Audubon agreed to provide services for MWUA policies, including issuing policies on behalf of MWUA, adjusting

Ĩ

claims, and providing full-claim supervision. Audubon, in turn, contracted with an adjustment firm to assist in the adjusting process. Following the storm, plaintiffs were paid the limits of their federal flood policy. <u>Id</u>. at 164. MWUA paid partial limits prior to plaintiffs filing suit, and then tendered the remaining policy limits after suit was filed. In turn, plaintiffs dismissed all claims against MWUA and Audubon for recovery of insurance proceeds but did not dismiss their claim against Audubon for negligent and arbitrary adjusting tactics. <u>Id</u>.

Audubon filed a motion for summary judgment and denied liability for it's adjustment of the plaintiffs' wind claim because it was acting as an agent of a disclosed principal and immune from claims of negligent claims handling or breach of contract, and asserted that it's conduct did not rise to the level of an independent tort. Plaintiffs moved for summary judgment alleging that Audubon and MWUA were co-principals based on Audubon's contractual assumption of MWUA obligations regarding the windand-hail policy, making Audubon susceptible to a simple negligence claim, and that Audubon had absolute control over the scope and methodology of the independent adjustor's investigation, which was grossly negligent and designed to provide arbitrary results. The trial court granted Audubon's motion for summary judgment. On appeal, this Court ran through the required factors to determine whether or not an agency relationship between Audubon and MWUA. Id. at 165-66. This Court found that, through the Servicing Insurer Agreement with the MWUA, Audubon was "given a great deal of autonomy in performing its duties," creating a fact question for the jury and thus. reversed summary judgment in favor of Audubon. Id. at 166.

At the outset, it bears noting that the <u>Fonte</u> opinion is silent as to the fate of

۰.

ξ.

4

τ.

State Farm, who essentially was in the same position of Farm Bureau in the present matter. Nevertheless, the <u>Fonte</u> opinion does not provide precedent for this matter regarding the Trial Court's entry of summary judgment in favor of Farm Bureau. In the present matter, Farm Bureau never entered into any type of Servicing Insurer Agreement with the MWUA or Audubon. At no time was Farm Bureau responsible for adjusting MWUA claims, or providing any claim supervision regarding the MWUA claims; rather, just as in <u>Fonte</u>, Audubon is charged with performing such services for the MWUA in the present matter. In fact, Audubon and MWUA are remaining co-defendants in the underlying matter. Chevis has been compensated by MWUA for his wind claim and he continues to pursue that claim. <u>Fonte</u> provides no precedential authority for the present matter as to the claims against Farm Bureau and suggests no genuine issue of material fact requiring reversal of the summary judgment in favor of Farm Bureau.

IV.

The Trial Court Properly Determined No Genuine Issue of Material Fact Existed and that Summary Judgment was Proper

Regarding the Windstorm or Hail Exclusion Endorsement to the Farm Bureau policy at issue, Chevis vaguely asserts in his Brief that:

... Farm Bureau states that a covered loss that would not have occurred but for the excluded hazard is itself covered. The example is windstorm or hail that damages a heating system causing a fire. Here, Plaintiff alleged later negligence that would not have damaged the property but for storm damage.

Brief of Appellant at pg. 15.

٤.,

At no point in time has Chevis alleged or provided any evidence that Farm

Bureau acted negligently. The only allegations in his Complaint regarding negligence are contained in Count II, which is directed to Defendant, AIG Claim Services, Inc. C.P.

11. In response to Interrogatories requesting details as to all damage to his property, Chevis stated under oath that "Hurricane Katrina blew out windows and blew off much of the roof." C.P. 74-82. Therefore, this argument on page 15 of his Brief is without merit.

Finally, Chevis attempts to couch his "negligence" argument on <u>Corban v. United</u> <u>Servs. Auto. Ass'n</u>, 20 So. 3d 601, 619 (Miss. 2009). However, as this Court is well aware, in <u>Corban</u> the Court interpreted and addressed the applicability of the Anticoncurrent Causation Clause in light of a homeowner's policy claim regarding loss resulting from water and/or wind because of Hurricane Katrina. In <u>Corban</u>, the Court stated that:

> The ACC clause applies only if and when covered and excluded perils contemporaneously converge, operating in conjunction, to cause damage resulting in loss to the insured property. If the insured property is separately damaged by a covered or excluded peril, the ACC clause is inapplicable. If damage is caused by a covered peril, the insured is entitled to indemnification for the covered loss, as the insured's right to recover for the loss has vested.

<u>Id</u>. at 616. In the present matter, Chevis has provided sworn Interrogatory answers that his property was only damaged by wind, and as such, <u>Corban</u> is inapplicable to the present matter. Therefore, this argument must also fail.

۷.

Farm Bureau and the Trial Court Co-Defendants are Not Jointly and Severally Liable to Chevis for his Losses

Chevis' argument that the "Defendants are Jointly and Severally Liable to

ŝ

Plaintiff for his Losses" are procedurally barred by M.R.A.P. 28(a)(6). Rule 28(a)(6) provides "*Argument*. The argument shall contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons for those contentions, with citations to authorities, statutes and parts of the record relied on." Furthermore, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that the "[f]ailure to comply with M.R.A.P. 28(a)(6) renders an argument procedurally barred." <u>Sorey v. Crosby</u>, 989 So. 2d 485, 487 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting <u>Birrages v. III. Cent. R.R.</u>, 950 So. 2d 188, 194 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)).

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